
 

AGENDA 
 

City of Portsmouth 
Housing Blue Ribbon Committee 
Conference Room A at City Hall* 

 

Thursday, April 18th 2024 
5:30 p.m. 

I. Roll Call 

II. Approval of 4/11/2024 Meeting Minutes (5 minutes) 

III. Housing Navigator Update (5 minutes) 

IV. RKG Presentation on Zoning Feasibility Analysis (10 minutes) 

a. Question and Answer (20 minutes) 

V. Public Comment (20 minutes) 

VI. Discussion of Goal Statement (30 minutes) 
a. Sample motion “Identify, recommend, and refer to both the appropriate land use board and City Council for 

consideration, changes that will facilitate the creation within the next two years, by public and private 
sectors, of at least 500 permitted, affordable housing options and that promote a sustainable, long-term housing 
market.” 

 
Attachments 

a. RKG Zoning Analysis Report. 

b. Planning and Sustainability Staff Updates: 

i. Correspondence received from the public.  

 

*Members of the public also have the option to join this meeting over Zoom. Please register in advance for this 
Zoom meeting: 

 
Register in advance for this meeting: 

 
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_erlD1pglTlWsfDSVSb41Ug 

 
After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the meeting. 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_erlD1pglTlWsfDSVSb41Ug


 

 
 

Meeting Minutes _ DRAFT 

 
City of Portsmouth 

Housing Blue Ribbon Committee 
Conference Room A at City Hall* 

 

Thursday, April 11th 2024 
5:30 p.m. 

The meeting was called to order by Co-Chair Kelley at 5:30pm 

I. Roll Call 

Chairperson Joanna Kelley: 5:30p.m.  

Present: Erik Anderson, City Manager Karen Conard, Megan Corsetti, Assistant Mayor Joanna 
Kelley, Tracey Kozak, Mary Loane, Byron Matto, Dagan Migirditch, Councilor Beth Moreu, John 
O’Leary, Councilor John Tabor, and City Staff Peter Britz, Peter Stith, Howard Snyder 

Absent: Jen Stebbins Thomas 

II. Approval of 3/7/2024 and 3/21/2024 Meeting Minutes 

Beth Moreu: Motion to approve minutes as amended by Erik Anderson. 
Byron Matto: Second. 
In favor: Unanimous. 
Opposed: None.   
Minutes approved. 

III. Discussion of Goal Statement 
Joanna Kelley motion “Create changes that support 500 permitted units of diverse, affordable 
housing over the next two years that creates long term market sustainability.” 
John O’Leary: Motion to approve. 
Beth Moreu: Second. 

Discussion: 

John O’Leary: Comma between diverse and affordable. Differences between affordable and 
workforce? 

Joanna Kelley: General consensus of definition from HUD statements as to affordable. 



 

 
 

Beth Moreu: Affordable leaves, is broad enough to include terms such as workforce. 

Erik Anderson: Amend motion to eliminate number 500. At last meeting it was discussed as 
aggressive. Does not distinguish between city and private sectors responsibility. If it is all of city’s, is 
500 realistic?  

Megan Corsetti: Second. 

Megan Corsetti: Goals statement as a starting point, what about objectives such as adjusting zoning, 
incentives, and others? Portsmouth listens’ recent effort has measurable goals. 

Dagan Migirditch: 1,500 is by the end of a decade.  

Dagan Migirditch: Motion to add “at least” as to articulate last part of the goal better.  

Beth Moreu: goal needs 500 to help create actions. Set the sights to where we need to get.  

John Tabor: 500 made aggressive, set the needs, Somersworth accomplished 400. It is important to 
have a goal without getting too deep into policy. 

Erik Anderson: Will we have public comment for the motion?  

Joanna Kelley: Explains various committees have their own guidelines on public comment portions of 
their meetings. We have our public comment portion later in the meeting.  

Megan Corsetti: We are able to make recommendations, not policies? 

Joanna Kelley: Roll call vote on removing 500 from the goal statement. 
In favor: Erik Anderson. 
Opposed: Megan Corsetti, Joanna Kelley, Tracey Kozak, Mary Loane, Byron Matto, Dagan 
Migirditch, Beth Moreu, John O’Leary, John Tabor.  
Motion fails.  

Dagan Migirditch: Motion to amend the last clause to include identify, adapt or dismantle government 
barriers create changes 500 permitted diverse permitted.  

John O’Leary: second.  

Discussion: 

John Tabor: Consideration for the term “dismantle” – sounds as a hell-bent means to removing an 
impediment, dismantling rip apart and destroy. Could amend be a better word?  



 

 
 

Howard Snyder: Notes goals are loftier and members are trying to add very granular terms and 
thinking. Talks about goal identifiers and actions and strategies as ways to implement.   

Dagan Migirditch: Rescind of motion. 

John O’Leary: Second. 

Discussion: 

Debate on whether setting a specific numerical target (e.g., 500 units every two years) was realistic or 
overly ambitious given current resources and zoning limitations. 

Discussion on the importance of measurable goals and the need for a comprehensive strategy that 
includes zoning adjustments, incentives, and potentially new tax benefits for contributing landlords. 

Joanna Kelley: Goal is to navigate the way housing is to be created. Goal as a strategic plan for the 
committee to make recommendations to other boards. 

Byron Matto: “Up to” is limited and should be removed. Up to change to at least. 

Erik Anderson: What is the expectation of private and public in the goal statement? 

Mary Loane: In the spirit of Byron’s wording, add “create long term sustainability.” 

Joanna Kelley: Call vote to table the motion.  
In favor: Unanimous. 
Opposed: None. 
Motion tabled.  

IV. Committee Member Comments:  
a. Committee member request: Communication 

John O’Leary: Concerns on goals outcome based missing communication, take the time to tell the 
story, what and why doing it better chance for community support.  Try to be responsive to public, 
open process, and all residents respectfully. Keep all informed. Questions regarding PHA 
presentation. 

Erik Anderson: Asked about number of units and this second application. When would transfer of 
property be received - mid-May? Concern on Portsmouth residents - how does PHA preference ruth 
survey number of Portsmouth residents before moving in? What else does PHA have in their plate? 
What is their structure in place to handle two projects at the same time? 



 

 
 

John O’Leary: Suggestion to City Council to issue an RFQ as there needs to be vetting. City to do an 
appraisal on the other four properties. If there is a lease on the land the lease money city gets goes 
into first-time homebuyers’ program. Asks the committee to outline long-term plan efforts – timeline.  

Erik Anderson: (Reads handout) Committee is being very aggressive, urgency, needs to slow down. 
The PHA presentation was not complete. “Application” what does it mean? and intentions of 
development?  Whose timelines are we working on - city or PHA? hands out petition – 165 signatures 
voicing concern – for the record.  

Dagan Migirditch: Agree on notions of transparency, challenge on thoughts that we are moving with 
haste. 

Joanna Kelley: Statements to reclarify scope of conversation.  

Tracey Kozak: Agree on transparency.  

Mary Loane: I am a resident of Pannaway and did not receive the petition. Questions about the 
petition being submitted.  

V. Housing Navigator Update 
Howard Snyder: Outlines the online forms submitted by residents using the housing web portal and 
the documents attached in the meeting packet.   

VI. Public Comment 

Rick Becksted @ 1393 Islington St.: Application from PHA. Ruth Griffin – affordable units number 
or percentage. There has got to be questions on structure of the board as two members are involved 
with the local housing and construction industry. 
 
Jerry Duffy @ 428 Pleasant St.: Next door to PHA housing. Recognition of PHA efforts – understand 
residents of PHA feel sandbagged. Neighborhoods want to consider what they consider valuable. 
Sherburne School owned by city housing problem is a city wide issue and we all have a say. Location 
of Pannaway Manor residents’ location and traffic study. Support – PHA not on a profit driven 
portfolio. Support to move forward.  
 
Ruben Yzaguirre @ 337 Colonial Dr.: Speaks on traffic with images on screen. – Pannaway 
neighborhood taxed with traffic. Traffic study previously done.  
 
Tom Kaufhold @ 53 Rogers Street: Fears with housing developments by PHA are not realized. 
Listening circles helped change – parking and parking lots not a good use in the downtown. Support 
working on getting housing where we can.  
 
Adam Ruedig of PHA: On the board of directors and serve as a volunteer with PHA that is a non-
profit. The accusations are not fair. Ways to kill housing projects – time for community to stop – 
PHA created for bringing federal housing funding into the city to create housing. Responds to 



 

 
 

questions and statements about PHA that were previously made. Lawsuits slowed the Ruth Griffin 
Place project to the six years it took to build.  
 
Petra Huda @ 280 South St.: Minutes difficult to follow and packet is confusing. Content – definition 
of housing is 204 not 205. Information from the previous Land Use Committee has not been given to 
this committee. 
 
Aron Garganta @ 423 Colonial Dr.: Goals discussion from earlier – master planning approach to 
workforce housing in Portsmouth and surrounding communities. Build bridges with other 
communities to build housing. Include both affordable and workforce level housing in goal statement. 
Some city owned properties better for workforce housing and others for affordable. What has been 
the selection process – different properties than the police station list. Specific to Sherburne – 
development will have challenges – highway and industrial complex nearby. Housing density – 
zoning – type of structure that will be built. What will the disposition of the school be?  
 
Manny Garganta @ 471 Colonial Dr.: Atheneum move over to school.  
 
Genevieve Becksted Muske @ 9 Schurman Ave.: Attended Land Use Committee meetings regarding 
properties. Each one has adversities. Questions on how the project has been presented. Taking away 
ballfield. From girls they don’t have any other place to go taking green space. Misrepresentation of 
the project. It is our neighborhood, and it is being taken away from us. 
 
Nicholas Ristaino @ 478 Colonial Drive: Support for housing project on the school site. Committee 
and council make decisions based on facts and data. Best interests of the city. Homelessness and lack 
of housing. There is a need for these projects and there will not be full agreement.  
 
Ethan Underhill @ 55 Ocean Rd. Unit #17: Attended Portsmouth listens sessions, learned new 
resident context of housing. Statistics on housing percentage and how old the discussion is – PHA 
study, 2017 report, great many residents want to attract and retain residents. More residents want 
choice on housing. 
 
Cami Saunders: PHA has it listed as signature project on their website - is this a done deal? Feels like 
it. Nothing against housing, it doesn’t fit in our neighborhood. Traffic an issue. One way in and one 
way out. No other place for cars to go. Gosling Meadows has a reputation, don’t bring that into our 
front yard. Find another situation like the Episcopal Church project. 
 
Bill St Laurent @ 253 Colonial Dr.:  Pannaway Manor have ideas that have been presented by 
neighbors – presentation at Sherburne school was full – 98 percent of people at the event were 
opposed. Go slow – heads of the city forcing this to happen – other places not looked at. Who are 
these people? Who are we helping? What about the park across from city hall? Is this still a done 
deal. Pannaway Manor is a dead end street. 
 



 

 
 

Ronald Martenson @ 180 Sherburne Rd.: Discusses neighborhood changes over last 20 years. It 
started as a working-class neighborhood. Concern about their ability to afford living in Portsmouth – 
this project would be a travesty if not built. People concerned about the type of people that will be 
attracted – they are all great people. Traffic will not be a factor. End of the day I see the project 
moving forward.  
 
John Logan @ 130 Dennett: Favors affordable housing in the city – concerned about what is 
happening across the country. Difficult political issue – opposing is easy – city council will take the 
heat on any decision. This is just the first of many housing decisions, other neighborhoods will also 
come forward about defending versus addressing a city-wide issue. These are community building 
projects. Origins of Pannaway Manor was workforce subsidized  housing.  
 
Andrea Pickett of PHA: Invite to tour facilities to see what Ruth Griffin Place and workforce housing 
looks like. Outreach and engagement to move forward together.  
 
Craig Welch of PHA and @ 77 South St.: We are here to execute on aims of city council. I am 
available for discussions. Discusses preferences and income limits, timeline with the city council, and 
constraints. PHA develops with tax credits and there is only one time a year to apply. Permit by 
August and put finance together. 

 
VII. Committee Member Requested Motion 

Joanna Kelley: Member submitted motion “Recommend that the City Council works toward the 
official disposition and land lease of Sherburne School property for the creation of permanent, 
below market rate housing.” 
Byron Matto: So moved. 
Dagan Migirditch: Second. 

Discussion:  

John O’Leary: Question regarding the term “disposition.” 

Karen Conard: Any process the City would run for surplus property. Question to City Council would 
be run city council would determine what the process would be.  

Erik Anderson: Asks if a vote on motion would remove this committee from further discussions on 
site specific aspects of the project.  

Joanna Kelley: Explains city council would make requests of the committee for recommendations and 
insights. Details will come back to this committee on what recommendation the HC would make to 
the council.  



 

 
 

Erik Anderson: Details of this project will come back to this committee for further discussion. 
Concerns on the motion as there has been and there is so much discussion that needs to occur. Reads 
from PHA application to the State for funding.  

Joanna Kelley: Clarifies PHA or any other developer are not mentioned, or partnerships considered in 
the motion. Further explanation in the purpose and intent of the motion. The City Council is looking 
to the committee to start the process of disposition of the property. This motion does not tie us to a 
developer or developing the land, starts the process of discussion in a more formal manner.  

Erik Anderson: Reto table the motion. Not enough time to discuss it all. Rushing the project. Previous 
presentation to PHA about funding – too many questions remain.  

Beth Moreu: Sees the motion as asking the City Council as to what they want to do with the property 
– maintain ownership or sell on the open market.  That is a policy decision of the council that would 
then give this committee a direction to go. 

Megan Corsetti: Should the motion move forward to the City Council; they would direct staff about 
the property and the process would involve the public?  

Joanna Kelley: If the motion moves forward, intent is to present at the next City Council meeting for 
their discussion.  

Megan Corsetti: Assuming there is an RSA process to follow for disposition of land. Questions if we 
getting the information from the citizens and acting with integrity. More public engagement is 
needed. Make sure the council implements actionable items.  

Dagan Migirditch: Imperative to do this right, motion needed to proceed and at that point more 
process can occur and all the questions that need to be asked. Support not tabling motion. 

John O’Leary: Council will refer to planning board, they will discuss and hold public meetings and 
then they will make recommendations to the Council. Opportunity then for people to give more input.  

Joanna Kelley: Multiple bodies will be involved and multiple opportunities for public comment.  

Joanna Kelley: Roll call vote on tabling motion. 
In favor: Erik Anderson and Megan Corsetti.  
Opposed: Assistant Mayor Joanna Kelley, Tracey Kozak, Mary Loane, Byron Matto, Dagan 
Migirditch, Councilor Beth Moreu, John O’Leary, Councilor John Tabor. 
Opposed: Megan Corsetti and Erik Anderson.  
Motion passes.  

Joanna Kelley: Roll call vote on main motion.  
 



 

 
 

Discussion: 
 
Joanna Kelley: Is it all encompassing, and we are not setting policy. We are making recommendations 
and City Council will determine the policies for the disposition.     
 

Joanna Kelley: Calls roll call vote on main motion. 
In favor: Assistant Mayor Joanna Kelley, Tracey Kozak, Mary Loane, Byron Matto, Dagan 
Migirditch, Councilor Beth Moreu, John O’Leary, Councilor John Tabor. 
Opposed: Megan Corsetti and Erik Anderson.  
Motion passes.  

 
Joanna Kelley: Motion to adjourn. 
John Tabor: So moved. 
Beth Moreu: Second.  

 
Adjournment at 8 p.m. 



 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

City of Portsmouth 
Housing Blue Ribbon Committee 

 

Thursday, April 18th 2024 
 
Attachments 

a. RKG Zoning Analysis Report. 

b. Planning and Sustainability Staff Updates: 
• Correspondence received from the public.  



CITY OF  PORTSMOUTH,  NH
I N C L U S I O N A R Y  Z O N I N G  F E A S I B I L I T Y  A N A LY S I S

February 27, 2024

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
Executive Summary. 



TABLE  OF  
CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION ……………………………………………………. 

MODELING INPUTS……………………………………………….                              

FINANCIAL SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS………………….                   

PROJECT SCENARIO ANALYSIS…………………………                         

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS………………………………….

3

7

18

28

34



INTRODUCTION

P
O

R
T

S
M

O
U

T
H

 I
N

C
L

U
S

I
O

N
A

R
Y

 Z
O

N
I

N
G

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

3



B A C K G R O U N D The City of Portsmouth seeks to understand the financial impacts of 
implementing an Inclusionary Zoning (IZ) policy. An IZ policy would require 
residential developers to allocate a percentage of income-controlled units 
within their new market-rate developments. By having to provide some 
income-controlled units, it is highly likely that the development projects will 
experience reduced revenue, which will adversely impact financial returns.   

For example, if the City of Portsmouth implements an IZ policy that 
requires residential developers to allocate 10% of all units in the 
development as income-controlled housing units, a multifamily developer 
seeking to construct a new 100-unit apartment building would have to set 
aside 10 units (10% of 100 rental units) to be priced at a monthly rate 
deemed “affordable” to a household at the prescribed income level. For the 
proposes of this analysis, affordable is defined as paying less than 30% of 
gross income for rent and essential utilities.  Consequently, these 10 
income-controlled units would generate lower rental revenues than the 
remaining market-rate units, which reduces financial returns for the 
developer. 

The above example is a simplified version of an IZ policy but demonstrates 
the financial impact if a hypothetical IZ policy were to be implemented by 
the City of Portsmouth. The following report details the potential financial 
impact of more-complex IZ policy alternatives and their resulting financial 
returns. The analysis results are intended to assist the city in selecting a 
realistic and executable IZ policy based on prevailing market conditions 
within the local economy. 

I
N

T
R

O
D

U
C

T
I

O
N

4



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

F I N A N C I A L  F E A S I B I L I T Y  M O D E L  

RKG Associates developed a financial feasibility model that estimates a real estate 
developer’s potential financial return.  While there are several return metrics used to 
assess financial feasibility, the Portsmouth financial feasibility model focuses on 
estimating the Internal Rate of Return (IRR). IRR is a standard quantitative metric 
used to predict the financial performance of a potential real estate investment. 
Essentially, the IRR will indicate whether a real estate investment is worth the costs 
of pursuing development. IRRs are expressed as percentages; the higher the IRR 
percentage, the higher financial return to a real estate developer.  

RKG Associates’ financial feasibility model was designed to estimate the IRR while 
accounting for a variety of development factors. Such development factors include 
the percentage of income-controlled units, targeted Area Median Income (AMI) levels, 
construction costs, land costs, operation costs, tenure (owner vs. renter), and several 
others. Each of these factors can be changed within the model to test for multiple 
development scenarios. For instance, the model could test for different percentages 
of income-controlled units set aside (e.g., 10% vs. 20%, etc.) and different targeted 
AMI levels (e.g., 80% AMI, 60% AMI, etc.). Testing multiple development scenarios 
allows the City of Portsmouth to assess the impacts to financial returns of 
developments subjected to various hypothetical inclusionary zoning policies.        

I
N

T
R

O
D

U
C

T
I

O
N

5

THE FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY MODEL IS A PROFORMA-BASED EXCEL MODEL THAT 
IS DESIGNED TO TEST THE FINANCIAL IMPACT OF POTENTIAL POLICY CHANGES 
AGAINST THE FINANCIAL RISK/REWARD OF A POTENTIAL REAL ESTATE 
INVESTMENT.



Location within the city was a primary factor for modeling the 
financial performance of a real estate investment under a 
hypothetical IZ policy. RKG Associates incorporated different 
model inputs for four (4) distinct locations within the City of 
Portsmouth known as subareas. The four subareas are 
illustrated in adjoining map. The model inputs that 
differentiated across each subarea included land costs, 
monthly rental prices, and homeownership sales values.      

RKG Associates’ market research concluded that land costs, 
monthly rental prices, and homeownership sales values are 
much higher in Subarea 1 than the other 3 subareas. Therefore, 
RKG Associates utilized higher price points for modeling 
potential real estate investments in Subarea 1. Accounting for 
this price variation between the city’s subareas was critical to 
accurately model the financial performance of real estate 
investments.    

I
N

T
R

O
D

U
C

T
I

O
N

6

C I T Y  S U B A R E A S
Subareas Used For Financial Modeling 



MODELING 
INPUTS

P
O

R
T

S
M

O
U

T
H

 I
N

C
L

U
S

I
O

N
A

R
Y

 Z
O

N
I

N
G

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

7



All financial feasibility modeling is based upon three principal 
components: construction costs, operational revenues, and 
operational costs. Each component utilizes locally-derived 
inputs to accurately reflect city’s market conditions, and 
effectively design realistic development scenarios.  

To this point, RKG conducted a comprehensive analysis of all 
components of financial feasibility of residential development 
in the City of Portsmouth. The primary inputs for which local 
data was derived include, but is not limited to: 

Construction Costs
Soft costs – design and preparation
Hard costs – materials and construction
Parking costs – costs per parking space
Land costs – physical location within the city’s subarea

Operation Costs
Financing costs – debt and equity to pay for the project
Operating expenses–marketing, management, repairs, property 
taxes

Operational Revenues
Rental rates and sale prices

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

8

M E T H O D O L O G Y
Construction Costs

To determine hard costs for building and parking construction, RKG 
interviewed several for-profit and non-profit developers, as well as utilizing 
RSMeans1 to build out customized per square foot construction costs for 
stick, stick over podium, and steel frame construction typologies.

Similarly, RKG collected information on construction costs for three types of 
parking costs: surface parking, aboveground structured parking, and 
underground parking.

Lastly, a land cost analysis was conducted by RKG on recently completed 
residential projects to understand the land price per unit developers have 
paid.  RKG used interview data from for-profit and non-profit developers to 
verify the research. 

Operation Costs

Development financing is possibly the most important element of any real 
estate deal. Different types of financing are available depending upon the 
scale of the project. Through interviews with for-profit and non-profit 
developers, RKG gained an understanding around debt, operational costs, and 
vacancy assumptions used in developer proformas. 

Additionally, information on financial return expectations was obtained and 
used as a benchmark for the financial feasibility model to understand the 
impact policy changes may have on a project’s financial return metrics.
1RSMeans is a national data vendor that analyzes real estate construction cost data.



Operational Revenues

RKG collected market rate rental data for residential 
projects completed since 2017, which included pricing for 
efficiency (studio), one-bedroom, and two-bedroom 
apartments. To collect rates for income-controlled rental 
data, RKG Associates calculated the maximum affordable 
rent for various household income thresholds. The 
adjoining table indicates the income thresholds ranging 
from 30% AMI to 100% AMI for the City of Portsmouth. As 
stipulated by HUD, the maximum affordable rent would be 
30% of a household monthly income. For instance, an 80% 
AMI 2- bedroom household earns $83,322. Therefore, 30% 
of this income at the monthly rate is $2,083 (83,322 
*.30/12). Market-rate rental data and income-controlled 
rental data were used as revenue inputs for hypothetical 
rental developments.        

The sales values of housing units were determined 
through a combination of market research and utilizing 
the City’s property sales database to parse the most 
recent sales values by bedroom count. The results were 
used to set baseline assumptions around sale prices in 
the model. 

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

9

M E T H O D O L O G Y



As mentioned in the previous section, hard and soft 
construction cost data was collected through interviews with 
local for-profit and non-profit developers. 

The financial feasibility model applied each of these hard 
costs based on the type of construction material used: stick, 
stick over podium, and steel frame construction. The costs of 
stick construction can vary for ownership developments, 
especially single-story townhome units. As indicated the 
table, soft costs, such as engineering and architectural fees, 
average around 15% of hard costs as learned through 
interviews with local developers.  

The third and final construction costs are parking costs per 
space. As indicated in the table, RKG Associates modeled for 
three different types of parking. Surface parking is the least 
expensive option for parking at $15,000 per space. Surface 
parking is more likely to be incorporated into properties with 
sufficient land area, typically in the less dense areas of a city 
(Subareas 3/4). Structured Belowground parking, the most 
expensive parking option at $50,000 per space, will typically 
be incorporated into areas more land constrained (historical 
downtown). 

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

10

C O N S T R U C T I O N  C O S T S

Hard Construction Costs (PSF) Apartment Condo/Townhouse

Stick $280 $280

Stick (Ownership) N/A $200

Stick Over Podium $325 $325

Steel Frame $425 $425

Hard, Soft, and Parking Costs Inputs

Soft Costs (% of Hard Cost)

Soft Costs 15.00%

Parking Costs (Per Space) Average

Surface $15,000 

Structured Aboveground $25,000 

Structured Belowground $50,000 
Note: Values are based on data collected from stakeholder interviews.
Source: RKG Associates, 2023

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
More sentenced based, fire suppression 



11

C O N S T R U C T I O N  C O S T S

Housing Type Subarea 1 Subarea 2/3/4

Condominium $60,000/Acre $30,000/Acre

Townhome $320,000/Unit $250,000/Unit

Apartment $50,000/Acre $30,000/Acre

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

The amount of money a developer can pay for a piece of 
land is a critical component to the financial feasibility of a 
project. The higher the land value, the more a developer 
needs to offset their costs through things like higher 
density, lower parking rates, or increased sales prices and 
rents. 

The price of land in Downtown Portsmouth (within Subarea 
1) has increased substantially in recent years, as the 
supply of land has decreased in tandem with inflated 
demand from developers. Several developers indicated 
that land prices in Downtown Portsmouth are significantly 
higher than the rest of the city. Therefore, RKG Associates 
modeled for significantly higher land costs in Subarea 1 
than the other subareas.    

Land Cost Inputs

Note: Values are based on data collected from stakeholder interviews.
Source: RKG Associates, 2023



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

O P E R A T I N G  C O S T S

Following construction of the actual development, property owners accrue costs 
related to marketing, maintaining, and managing a rental property. These costs 
are known as operating expenses which can include, but not limited to utility, 
labor, and cleaning-related costs.

Operating expenses do not vary for market rate or income-controlled units, as 
costs do not change dramatically based on a tenant. Therefore, operating 
expenses accounted for 25% of total rental revenues generated from both 
market-rate and income-controlled units.  

Vacancy and collection loss for new construction projects are consistent 
throughout Portsmouth, with most uncollected rent due to turnover. Turnover is 
the time between a unit is marketed until it is occupied by a tenant. 

12

Operating Expenses (As a % of Rental Revenue)

Operating Expenses 25%

Vacancy & Collection Loss 5%

Operating Expense Inputs

Note: Values are based on data collected from stakeholder interviews.
Source: RKG Associates, 2023



13

O P E R A T I N G  C O S T S

Financing Costs

Interest Rate 6.00%

Equity Required 20%

Expected Financial Return

Internal Rate of Return (Rental) 15.00%

Internal Rate of Return (Ownership) 30.00%

Return on Cost 6.0%

Financial Cost Inputs

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

The most common approaches towards financing 
residential development is through equity investment 
and  debt financing. 

Equity is the initial out-of-pocket amount a developer 
contributes towards a real estate investment. 
Developers will pay less in out-of-pocket costs if they 
can secure financing from other sources. This is 
preferable to developers, since the overall project return 
is expected to be greater, and less investment risk is 
involved. Per interviews with local developers, RKG 
Associates set the equity requirement to 20% for both 
ownership and rental developments.  

Securing long-term debt financing at affordable rates 
has become increasingly challenging. Recent 
widespread increases in interest rates, accelerated by 
the COVID-19 pandemic, has adversely impacted the 
financial performance of new residential development. 
Based on developers' interviews, RKG Associates set 
the expected interest rate to 6%.          

Note: Values are based on data collected from stakeholder interviews.
Source: RKG Associates, 2023



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

14

O P E R A T I O N A L  R E V E N U E S

Subarea Studio 1BR 2BR 3BR

Subarea 1 $4.47 $3.95 $3.74 $3.18

Subarea 2 $3.74 $3.68 $3.35 $2.85

Subarea 3 $3.62 $3.37 $2.96 $2.51

Subarea 4 $3.62 $3.37 $2.96 $2.51

Rental Revenue Inputs (Per Square Foot)RKG collected rental rate data for relatively new 
developments (previous 5 years) which included 
efficiency (studio), one-bedroom, two-bedroom, and 
three-bedroom apartments. The rental revenue 
inputs for each of the bedrooms consists of per 
square foot averages based on the rates of the 
developments.   

The market rental rates were used as a baseline for 
the analysis and compared to information obtained 
from developers. Excluding studio floorplans, a new 
construction rental unit is priced between $2.51 and 
$3.95 per square foot citywide. 

Subarea 1, which offers the most convenient 
accessibility to amenities and services, had the 
city’s highest rents. Subarea 4 didn’t have any 
rental developments constructed in the previous 5 
years, therefore RKG Associates utilized the same 
rental prices as Subarea 3. Utilizing the same prices 
was justified based on market insights learned 
through conversations with local developers.  

Note: Values are based on data collected from stakeholder interviews.
Source: RKG Associates, 2023



RKG Associates used the City’s property 
assessment database and RedFin data to analyze 
ownership sales prices by neighborhood for new 
construction ownership housing units built in the 
last five years.

Subarea 1 commanded the highest prices per 
square foot. This was especially the case for new 
condominium construction within the city’s 
downtown corridor, where new units can range 
between $1.8 and $2.0 million. 

Condominium prices were roughly the same across 
the remaining subareas. Therefore, RKG Associates 
applied the city average of $500 per square foot in 
modeling for condominium construction. 

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

15

O W N E R S H I P  S A L E  P R I C E S  I N P U T S

Subarea Condominiums Townhomes

Subarea 1 $950 $425

Subarea 2 $500 $410

Subarea 3 $500 $350

Subarea 4 $500 $350

Ownership Revenue Inputs (Per Square Foot)

Note: Values are based on data collected from stakeholder interviews.
Source: RedFin, RKG Associates, 2023



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

I N S I G H T S  &  I M P L I C A T I O N S

The financial feasibility model is limited by its inputs.

Feasibility modeling requires use of several development, operational, financing, and 
market assumptions when calculating financial proformas.  We understand that each 
project is different and will carry costs and revenues that can vary greatly, even within 
a single market.  Unfortunately, one of the limitations of modeling is having to create 
a policy that covers various development types, scale, and locations.  RKG does its 
best to account for unique issues (e.g., wood frame costs versus concrete and steel 
costs), but we are limited in being able to model every potential permutation. There 
are three approaches to this type of analysis:

Best-Case Planning – This is where the modeling uses the most beneficial 
assumptions that results in an aggressive IZ policy. 

Worst-Case Planning – Opposite of best-case, this is where the modeling uses 
the most challenging development assumptions to understand how a policy 
decision would impact the weakest project. 

Mid-Point Planning – As it sounds, use means and medians to model to the 
‘middle of the pack’, trying to find a balance point between production and 
financial impact.

There are benefits and drawbacks to all three approaches.  Best-Case Planning is 
based on the most financially beneficial development examples, leading to the most 
aggressive IZ policy thresholds (set aside requirements and target AMIs).  However, 
it is the most financially punitive to all but these ideal projects and can adversely 
impact residential development potential.  

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

16



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

I N S I G H T S  &  I M P L I C A T I O N S

M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

17

Conversely, the Worst-Case Planning approach focuses on the most difficult 
financial projects, thus leading to lower set-aside rates and/or higher AMI targets.  
While the worst-case approach ensures financial feasibility impact is minimized—or 
even eliminated—it yields the least amount of housing price diversity and does not 
capture the full potential of stronger projects. RKG Associates’ uses the ‘mid-point’ 
analysis approach, balancing potential impact and price diversity delivery as fair as 
possible.  

Regardless of which approach used, any individual project will likely differ 
somewhat from the model.  This is why for-profit and non-profit organizations are 
interviewed, and locally-based data sources are used in the model’s creation. 

Financial performance is just one factor in the decision-making process  
of developers.  

It is important to acknowledge that the financial performance of a project is one of 
many factors developers and investors consider when looking at a deal. Developers 
also assess project risk and feasibility based on ease of process and permitting, 
flexibility in zoning, location and amenities, strength of the market, and strategic 
value. Given the variability and difficulty of assessing all these additional factors, 
the model focuses primarily on the financial aspects of the project.



FINANCIAL  
SENSITIVITY  
ANALYSIS

P
O

R
T

S
M

O
U

T
H

 I
N

C
L

U
S

I
O

N
A

R
Y

 Z
O

N
I

N
G

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

18



F I N A N C I A L  S E N S I T I V I T Y  A N A L Y S I S
The financial sensitivity analysis conducted by RKG Associates provides key insights regarding the relative impact on financial 
feasibility resulting from several developmental scenarios. RKG Associates modeled several development scenarios to understand 
the impacts on developers’ return expectations for rental and ownership housing. Each scenario incorporates multiple variables, 
including, but not limited to:  

 Project Size – The total number of units for a rental or ownership development. While the model can test for infinite 
number of units, the following analysis evaluates the impacts on returns based on the typical size of projects within the 
City of Portsmouth. For rental developments, RKG Associated modeled projects between 25 units and 150 units. For 
ownership condominiums projects, RKG Associates modeled between 15 and 25 units. Modeling the project size can be 
critical to understanding the relative impact on financial returns by changing the number of units.   

 Household Income Level  – The household income level is a percentage of the City of Portsmouth’s Area Median Income 
(AMI) as defined by the U.S. Department of Housing and Development (HUD). AMI levels can range between 30%-120% of 
the city’s Area Median Income, with 30% AMI representing the lowest earning income generating households. RKG 
Associates modeled projects at various AMI levels to understand the relationship between financial returns and providing 
a proportion of income-controlled housing units. Since lower rents and prices correspond with lower AMI levels, the 
following pages within this analysis should reveal how providing a greater number of units for lower AMI levels results in 
fewer revenues generated.  

 Percentage Set Aside  –  The percentage set side is the proportion of income-controlled units in relation to market-rate   
units. By increasing the percentage set aside, financial returns are expected to be lower.

The following pages focuses on the IRR metric, as it was proven to be the most difficult to reach market return expectations. In the 
case of rental development in Portsmouth, the minimum acceptable IRR to be considered financially feasible is 15%. For ownership 
development, the minimum acceptable IRR is 30%. F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

19



RKG Associates wanted to better understand the relationship between the 
IRR and increasing density levels (number of units) for rental development 
within the city’s subareas. The adjoining table indicates the financial returns 
between 50 and 150 units while maintaining a fixed percentage of units 
(10%) and fixed income level (80% AMI). 

As illustrated, increasing the number of units generated a non-linear 
relationship as the IRR fluctuated while increasing the number of units. In 
Subarea 1 for instance, a 60-unit rental development generated a return of 
16.23% while a 150-unit rental development generated a slightly higher 
return of 16.25%. The higher IRR at 150 units demonstrates how additional 
revenues exceeds the marginal costs from building more units per rental 
development. Understanding this relationship is critical as developers will be 
incentivized to ‘right-size’ their projects, building the ideal number of units 
that can maximize their returns

Notably, under this rental development scenario (10% of units set aside at 
80% AMI) Subarea’s 1 and 2 were able to achieve financial feasibility for 
projects at all density levels, as the IRR exceeded the 15% minimum 
threshold. This contrasts with Subarea 3/4 where market rents are not as 
high, unable to justify the premium cost structure associated with stick over 
podium construction.   

F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

20

R E N T A L  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E T U R N S

Cell colors reflect whether the return is above (green) or below (red) market return 
expectations



RKG Associates then modeled for rental development at 80% AMI but 
changed the percentage of income-controlled units beyond 10% to 
include a 15%, 20%, and 25% set aside. As demonstrated in the adjoining 
table, increasing the percentage set aside while keeping the AMI fixed 
(80% AMI) decreases the IRR. The IRR decreases since fewer revenues 
are generated as fewer rental units would be charged at the market rate. 

The percentage set side imposes a substantial impact on the IRR. For 
several development scenarios within Subarea 1 and Subarea 2, a 5% 
increase in the percentage set aside is associated with a decrease of 
100 or more basis points (one hundredth of 1 percentage point) for the 
IRR. 

The financial feasibility within these subareas eventually declines to 
unfavorable return expectations, as the IRR drops below 15% beyond a 
10% set aside for most of the unit distributions. This may be largely due 
to the premium costs associated with stick over podium construction 
with structured parking, as revenues are insufficient to offset costs.    

In contrast, modeling for wood frame construction (stick construction) 
with surface parking generated IRRs that exceeded the 15% minimum 
threshold in Subarea 3/4. This differentiates with the IRR results on page 
22 for Subarea 3/4, which generated IRRs below the 15% minimum while 
modeling for stick over podium construction.

R E N T A L  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E T U R N S

F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

21

Cell colors reflect whether the return is above (green) or below (red) market return 
expectations



RKG Associates then modeled for rental development at several AMI 
levels to better understand the financial feasibility of providing units for 
severely low-income levels (30%, 40% AMI). Provision of these units is 
critical to enhance housing market conditions for key workforce segments, 
including restaurant and retail workers. 

As indicated in the adjoining table, providing units for severely low-income 
levels (30%, 40% AMI) dropped below the minimum IRR threshold of 15% 
of what is considered financially feasible in Subarea 1. Setting aside rental 
units for households earning between 50% AMI and 80% AMI is considered 
financially feasible in Subarea 1 but infeasible in Subarea 2. This reflects 
the higher potential revenues that could be generated by market-rate units 
in Subarea 1 relative to Subarea 2. 

Both Subarea’s 1 and 2 account for stick over podium construction with 
structured parking. If these subareas were to incorporate stick 
construction into projects, however, projects would be financially feasible 
as seen in Subarea 3/4.     

R E N T A L  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E T U R N S

F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

22

Cell colors reflect whether the return is above (green) or below (red) market return 
expectations



Ownership development financial returns between subareas is significantly 
more impacted than rental development returns. This is largely due to the 
relative pricing of condominium units. As illustrated in the adjoining table, an 
IZ policy would work in the most desirable areas of the City (Subarea 1) given 
current sales pricing and construction costs.    

The key difference between ownership housing and rental housing is that 
market rate prices for ownership units are much higher than income-
controlled units set aside at AMI percentages. As a result, converting a 
market-rate unit to an income-controlled unit has a much higher impact on 
financial feasibility

The fact that most ownership developments have fewer units than rental also 
impacts the results, as smaller projects are more heavily influenced than 
larger ones.

A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

 F
I

N
D

I
N

G
S

23

Cell colors reflect whether the return is above (green) or below (red) market return 
expectations

O W N E R S H I P  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E T U R N S



F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

24

As discussed previously, a lower percentage set aside or higher 
targeted AMI threshold generates improves financial performance. 
In contrast, a higher percentage set aside or lower targeted AMI 
threshold diminishes performances. That said, its possible to 
generate a similar IRR, or ‘financial equivalencies,’ by adjusting the 
percentage set aside and target AMI simultaneously. The adjoining 
table illustrates this relationship; As the percentage set aside and 
target AMI threshold is lowered, an equivalent IRR is generated. All 
that said, if the city wanted to provide a percentage of units 
targeting lower AMI thresholds (e.g., 60% AMI instead of 80% AMI), 
a lower percentage set aside must be stipulated in their IZ policy to 
avoid adversely impacting financial performance.

 

F I N A N C I A L  E Q U I V A L E N C I E S  

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
Adjusting target income, what happens if we target lower income levels. In order to avoid adverse impacts, adjust accordingly, serving a lower income household, 



F I N A N C I A L  E Q U I V A L E N C I E S  

F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

25

Most municipalities establish an IZ policy that stipulates 
a single percentage set aside and targeted AMI level for 
new residential developments. However, many 
municipalities utilize a multi-tier approach that can be 
used to provide housing units for multiple AMI thresholds 
From a financial feasibility perspective, the cumulative 
impact of a tiered IZ policy can be calculated to create 
‘financial equivalencies.’ As illustrated in the adjoining IZ 
table, a single percentage set aside and target AMI 
threshold (10% at 80% AMI) generates the same financial 
returns as two different percentage set asides and target 
AMIs (5% at 100% AMI and 5% at 60% AMI). All that said, 
providing units for multiple AMI thresholds within the 
same residential development will require the city to 
adjust the percentage set aside to avoid adversely 
impacting financial performance. 



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

I N S I G H T S  &  I M P L I C A T I O N S

Construction requirements will need to vary by location to encourage 
financial feasibility.

If a rental development set aside 10% of its total units at 80% AMI, the modeling 
indicates that stick over podium construction produces returns below the minimum 
acceptable threshold of 15%. However, utilizing wood frame construction would 
make projects financially feasible. Only Subarea’s 1 and 2 have high enough rents 
to justify the costs of stick over podium construction

F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

26

Subarea 1 area could provide units to severely low-income households 
but would have to lower construction requirements.  

Subarea 1, which includes Downtown Portsmouth, is reputed to have stringent 
development regulations. According to developers, the minimum standard for rental 
development is stick over podium construction. Allowing wood frame construction, 
however, could create the financial returns needed to provide units at 30%/40% 
AMI. Doing so could benefit downtown businesses, whose operations depend on 
the availability of a stable labor supply.     



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

I N S I G H T S  &  I M P L I C A T I O N S

Concrete and steel construction for condominiums only supportable in 
Subarea 1.

Areas other than Downtown barely exceed the minimum acceptable threshold for 
owner-occupied condominiums, even if modeling for wood frame construction. The 
substantial premium in ownership prices in Downtown, makes all construction 
types, including concrete and steel, financially feasible. 

F
I

N
A

N
C

I
A

L
 S

E
N

S
I

T
I

V
I

T
Y

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

27



PROJECT  
SCENARIO  
ANALYSIS

P
O

R
T

S
M

O
U

T
H

 I
N

C
L

U
S

I
O

N
A

R
Y

 Z
O

N
I

N
G

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

28



RKG Associates tested the financial sensitivity of two hypothetical rental project 
scenarios within the City of Portsmouth. The selected projects scenarios are based 
on specific properties that have been previously proposed to the city as potential 
rental development opportunities:

 Project Scenario 1, 100 Durgin Lane:  This property currently operates as 
a shopping center, which faces economic headwinds due to the recent 
closure of Bed, Bath, & Beyond. This property is being considered for infill 
rental development to strengthen its market and financial performance. 
The property consists of roughly 18.5 acres, distributed across 3 parcels.

 Project Scenario 2, 581 Lafayette Rd:  This property has been formally 
proposed to the city to be infilled with roughly 72 rental units. It consists 
of 1 parcel that totals 2.27 acres. 

To accurately estimate the financial returns of each project scenario, RKG Associates 
incorporated the zoning requirements (Gateway District) and model inputs (subarea 
rents) applicable to each property. Each property was modeled using the following 
inputs:

 Rental Units/Acre: 20 units by right and 36 units by conditional use  
 Community Spaces: 10% of land acreage is dedicated to community 

space
 Rents: Project Scenario 1 utilized Subarea 3/4 market rents while Project 

Scenario 2 utilized Subarea 2 rents.  

   

P
R

O
J

E
C

T
 S

C
E

N
A

R
I

O
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
I

S
29

P R O J E C T  S C E N A R I O  A N A L Y S I S



P
R

O
J

E
C

T
 S

C
E

N
A

R
I

O
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
I

S
30

P R O J E C T  S C E N A R I O  D E V E L O P A B L E  A C R E S
RKG Associates estimated the extent of developable land for each 
property, constrained by wetlands. The areas in green represent 16.61 
developable acres at the 100 Durgin Lane property, that are not 
constrained by wetlands. The second project scenario, 581 Lafayette Rd, 
is not constrained by wetlands and therefore 2.27 acres are considered 
developable. 

The City of Portsmouth accounts for the total land area, regardless of 
wetlands constraints, in their calculation of allowable units per acre. 
Although the 100 Durgin Lane Property is partially constrained by 
wetlands, the city allows for the entire 18.5 acres of the property be 
factored into their calculation of allowable buildable units. To maximize 
the total number of units on this property, developers will likely need to 
increase the number of stories within each structure given that nearly 2 
acres are not actually buildable.

Based on the allowable number of units within the Gateway district, 100 
Durgin Lane could absorb 300 units by right and approximately 600 units 
by conditional use. 581 Lafayette Rd could absorb 41 units by right and 
approximately 72 units by conditional use. RKG Associates tested 
several project sizes that range between the maximum allowable number 
of units by right to the maximum number of units by conditional use.  

 

Project 1: 100 Durgin Lane

Project 2: 581 Lafayette Rd



P
R

O
J

E
C

T
 S

C
E

N
A

R
I

O
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
I

S
31

P R O J E C T  S C E N A R I O  1 :  1 0 0  D U R G I N  L A N E

The adjoining table illustrates the results for several hypothetical rental 
development scenarios at percentage set asides ranging between 10% 
and 25%. Each of the scenarios are targeted at 80% AMI households. 

As expected, increasing the percentage set aside while maintaining a 
fixed AMI (80% AMI) led to decreasing returns. Moreover, lower IRRs 
were reported for structured parking as opposed to surface parking as 
structured parking costs roughly $10,000 more per space than surface 
parking. The IRR could reduce by as much as 160 basis points when 
switching from structured to surface parking for stick construction. Given 
the substantial developable acreage at 100 Durgin Lane, sufficient land 
is available to provide for surface parking. 

As revealed through previous analyses, Subarea 4 (which includes the 
100 During Lane Property) doesn’t supply high enough monthly rents to 
justify the higher costs of stick over podium construction. That said, 
stick construction appears to be the only financially feasible option at 
100 Durgin Lane. 



P
R

O
J

E
C

T
 S

C
E

N
A

R
I

O
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
I

S
32

P R O J E C T  S C E N A R I O  2 :  5 8 1  L A F A Y E T T E  R D

In contrast to the financial results at 100 Durgin Lane, some development 
scenarios that include stick over podium construction are financially 
feasible at 581 Lafayette Road. A 10% and 15% percentage set aside, 
controlled for stick over podium construction with surface parking 
generates returns higher than the 15% acceptable minimum of what is 
considered financially feasible. The difference between the two 
properties is strictly due to the higher market rate rents at 581 Lafayette 
Road, which were modeled using the higher Subarea 2 rates. However,  
the rents are unable to justify the costs of stick over podium construction 
above 15%. 

Interestingly, the results in the adjoining table indicate a fluctuating 
relationship between different unit counts for a 10% set aside. The IRR 
increases by 60 basis points or more between 41 and 50 units, decreases 
by 20 basis points between 50 units and 60 units, and then increases by 
10 basis points between 60 and 72 units. This finding is critical, as it can 
form a baseline for an IZ policy that creates incentives around increased 
densities.  



M
O

D
E

L
I

N
G

 I
N

P
U

T
S

I N S I G H T S  &  I M P L I C A T I O N S

Percentage set asides could vary by location to increase quantity of 
income-controlled units

Market rents at 581 Lafayette Road were able to justify the costs of stick over 
podium construction while leaving 15% set aside for income-controlled units 
targeted at 80% AMI. This differs with 100 Durgin Lane property where no 
percentage set asides for stick over podium construction were financially feasible. 
The results indicate a broader insight for the city, that inclusionary zoning policy 
must vary by location to maximize the provision of income-controlled units. 

Allowing additional densities in the Gateway district can help expand the 
number of units 

Compared to the property at 100 Durgin Lane, 581 Lafayette Rd is space 
constrained with only 2.27 acres of developable land. Developers indicated that a 
key barrier to development is the citywide regulation of only allowing 4 stories. 
Increasing the number of stories (stick over podium can support 5 stories) can 
expand the supply of income-controlled units.   

P
R

O
J

E
C

T
 S

C
E

N
A

R
I

O
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
I

S
33



POLICY  
CONSIDERATIONS

P
O

R
T

S
M

O
U

T
H

 Z
O

N
I

N
G

 I
M

P
A

C
T

 A
N

A
L

Y
S

I
S

34



P O L I C Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S  

What is a favorable target AMI and percentage 
set aside for a citywide IZ policy?     
The results of the financial sensitivity analyses concluded that a 
10% set aside of income-controlled units targeting 80% AMI 
households generated sufficient financial returns for rental 
developments throughout the entire city. While maintaining a target 
of 80% AMI households but increasing the set aside from 10% to 
15%, the results demonstrated that rental projects generated 
reduced returns or were vulnerable to financial infeasibility in 
Subarea 1 and Subarea 2. The reduced financial returns in Subarea 1 
and 2 by increasing the percentage set aside to 15% is largely due to 
the higher construction costs of stick over podium construction. All 
that said, RKG Associates recommends that the City of Portsmouth 
institute a citywide IZ policy of a 10% set aside that targets 80% AMI 
households. However, RKG Associates further recommends the 
percentage set aside increase from the citywide baseline of 10% to 
15% within areas of the city that generate favorable financial returns 
through wood frame development. The increase set aside through 
wood frame development could apply to areas outside of Downtown 
Portsmouth.   

P
O

L
I

C
Y

 I
M

P
L

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

35

Recommendation: If the City Council prefers to target a different 
AMI to serve with the IZ policy, RKG Associates recommends it 
adjusts the target set aside rates accordingly (see page 24).  In 
short, targeting a lower AMI will require adjusting the set aside to a 
lower rate (e.g., 8% set aside for a 60% AMI target) to minimize 
financial impact.  

Further, if the City Council’s goal is to achieve a higher set aside 
(e.g., 15%) AND a lower AMI target (e.g., 50% AMI), RKG highly 
recommends using an incremental approach in achieving this goal.  
The data indicate that setting an initial IZ policy at those rates will 
have a negative impact on financial feasibility (without a 
corresponding incentive from the City), potentially stopping new 
residential development.  To this point, RKG encourages the City 
Council to revisit the IZ policy regularly (every 1-2 years at most) to 
test incremental changes towards achieving its IZ delivery goals.



P O L I C Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S  

Partial Unit Rule – How to address partial unit 
calculations?
A proposed rental development may provide a total number of units 
that are not mathematically divisible by the city’s stipulated 
percentage set aside. For instance, a project proposed for 72 rental 
units subjected to a percentage set aside of 10% would result in 7.2 
income-controlled rental units. While the project could deliver 7 total 
income-controlled units, the city can decide how to address the 
remaining 0.2 of a rental unit utilizing 3 primary approaches [1] 
Round Up, [2] Partial Unit Payment, [3] Hybrid Approach: 

Round Up: This approach would force the developer to pay for 1 
additional rental unit. In the case of the above example, the 
developer would be forced to pay for 8 income-controlled units 
instead of 7 income-controlled units. If the developer agrees to build 
8 income-controlled units, the upside of the approach is that an 
additional unit is delivered without the city incurring any costs. 
However, this would decrease the financial performance of the 
developer’s project. Therefore, the developer is more likely to 
decrease the project’s total number of units to maintain or increase 
profitability. P

O
L

I
C

Y
 I

M
P

L
I

C
A

T
I

O
N

S
36

However, this would decrease the financial performance of the 
developer’s project. Therefore, the developer is more likely to 
decrease the project’s total number of units to maintain or increase 
profitability. In the end, the disincentive for the developer to pay for 
that additional unit leads to fewer income-controlled being 
developed and ultimately fewer financial and economic benefits for 
the city. All that said, RKG Associates recommend the City of 
Portsmouth utilize either a Partial Unit Payment or Hybrid Approach.

Partial Unit Payment: In this approach, the developer would be 
required to pay a cash fee to the city for allowing an additional unit 
to be market rate instead of income-controlled. The .2 of a unit  
described earlier would be charged to the developer in the form of a 
payment which could go towards funding housing assistance 
programs for renter households. There are two methods for 
calculating the payment amount charged to the developer, a value 
gap calculation approach and construction cost calculation. Both 
methods will be described later in this report. 



P O L I C Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S  

Hybrid Approach: This approach involves the round up approach 
OR a partial unit payment, depending on the size of a proposed 
project and percentage set aside. If a partial unit exceeds half (.5 
unit) or more of an income-controlled unit, the developer would be 
required to ‘round up,’ and provide an additional income-controlled 
unit. For instance, a developer proposes a 76-unit project under a 
citywide IZ policy that requires 10% of units to be controlled. This 
would equate to 7.6 income-controlled units, or .6 of a total unit. In 
this case, the developer would be required to provide 8 income-
controlled units.

In contrast, a partial unit payment would be imposed on the 
developer if the partial unit were LESS than half of a total income-
controlled unit. For instance, a 74-unit at a 10% set aside would 
generate 7.4 income-controlled units, or .4 of a total unit. 

Recommendation: Whether to require a developer to round up to an 
additional income-controlled unit or pay out for the partial unit will 
depend on local preferences. In RKG Associates’ experience, a 
partial unit payment is typically a more equitable approach towards 
providing income-controlled units. In contrast to rounding up, a 
partial unit payment imposes less of a financial burden on 
developers while supplying more income-controlled units in the 
long-run.

P
O

L
I

C
Y

 C
O

N
S

I
D

E
R

A
T

I
O

N
S

37

More specifically, the round up method creates a disincentive to 
maximize the development potential of a site (particularly for 
smaller projects under 50 units) by disproportionately impacting a 
project at different unit count levels.  

Assuming a 10% set aside requirement and no minimum project size 
threshold, a 5-unit development will have to provide 1 set aside unit 
under the round up method.  Under the partial unit method, that 
same development will have to make a contribution to the housing 
trust equivalent to the value of 50% of a set aside unit.  Assuming 
the payment value accurately reflects the market value difference 
between a set aside unit and a market rate unit, the 50% payment 
will have a much lower financial impact than having to deliver an 
entire unit.

To this point, a developer who can build 6 units on a given parcel will 
be disincentivized to build all 6 units if they must provide a full set 
aside unit rather than pay the pro rata share of the partial unit.  In 
effect, they may choose to only build 4 units because it would create 
a greater return (4 market rate, 0 set aside) than the full 6-unit 
development (5 market rate, 1 set aside).



P O L I C Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S

How to calculate the partial unit payment? 
As mentioned previously, the amount charged to a developer through 
a partial unit payment is typically calculated using two methods: [1] 
Value Gap Calculation or a [2] Construction Cost Calculation. These 
methods can be applied to ownership and rental housing. 

Value Gap Calculation: The value gap is the difference between the 
value of a market rate unit and that of an income-controlled unit. The 
value of a rental unit is determined by the net operating income and 
the capitalization rate; for an ownership unit it is determined by the 
sales value of the unit. In the case of income-controlled units, the 
amount of rent or sale price is limited to the target income threshold 
of the inclusionary zoning policy. This results in lower revenue for a 
developer. This loss of revenue translates into a loss of value 
(hence, the value gap) and negatively impacts the overall financials 
of a developer because the cost of construction and land to build 
either an affordable or market rate unit are essentially the same. 

RENTAL  EXAMPLE

NOIMR – NOIIC $25,000 – $15,000

  CAP RATE                5%

MR – Market Rate
IC – Income-Controlled

P
O

L
I

C
Y

 C
O

N
S

I
D

E
R

A
T

I
O

N
S

38

Construction Cost Calculation: The construction cost approach 
focuses on the costs to build a housing unit.  This includes land 
acquisition, land development and soft costs (e.g., design and 
engineering), approval process, and the hard construction costs for 
development.  A table showing construction cost calculations is 
included at the end of this narrative.

RKG Associates recommends using the value gap calculation 
approach, as it reflects the ‘fairest’ assessment, from a financial 
feasibility perspective.  ‘Fair’ means that the value difference from a 
market rate unit to an income-controlled unit is the financial benefit 
to the developer.  The difference will be lower than the full 
construction cost approach.  As such, using the construction cost 
approach will be financially punitive for a partial unit calculation.

OWNER  EXAMPLE

PRICEMR – PRICEIC $550,000 - $275,000   =   $275,000
=    $200,000



P O L I C Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S

Do we allow a payment in lieu instead of a 
guaranteeing income-controlled units?  
A payment in lieu would allow developers to pay the city for not 
providing income-controlled units in their projects. For instance, 
consider a developer proposes an 80-unit project and the city’s IZ 
policy required a 10% set aside for income-controlled units resulting 
in 8 income-controlled units. If a payment in lieu were allowed under 
this scenario, the developer could pay the city an amount equal to 
those 8 income-controlled units. This payment would allow the 
developer to provide the required income-controlled units at market 
rate. 

A payment in lieu policy can strengthen Portsmouth’s ability to 
provide income-controlled housing.  Under this policy, payments to 
the city can generate higher revenues for the city which can then be 
used to finance housing assistance programs. Such a policy can be 
useful depending on where a proposed project is located within the 
city. If proposed projects are in areas that lack convenient 
accessibility to key services (e.g., public transportation, grocery 
stores, etc.), they may not be a suitable housing location for income-
restricted households (e.g., households that cannot afford a car). In 
this case, a payment in lieu can provide the city with flexibility, 
generating funds needed to finance other housing opportunities in 
areas that better serve the living needs of income-restricted 
households.                        

P
O

L
I

C
Y

 C
O

N
S

I
D

E
R

A
T

I
O

N
S

39

The downside of a payment of lieu policy is that income-controlled units 
are not guaranteed. At least in a timely manner. Payment in lieu allows 
developers to build all market-rate units within their projects at the 
exclusion of providing any income-controlled units. While the city 
generates revenues that can be eventually used to finance income-
controlled housing units, the actual delivery can be at a slower pace given 
the time-intensive processes tied to new development. 

Recommendation: Whether or not the City allows payment in lieu should 
be determined by the goal of this IZ policy.  It is RKG Associates 
recommendation to only allow payment in lieu payments at the City’s 
discretion.  One of the primary tenets of IZ policies is to create inclusion 
(in neighborhoods, streets, projects…), so allowing the payment in lieu 
does not meet that standard.  However, there may be exigent 
circumstances where a payment to the City is more beneficial than 
delivered units (e.g., a poorly-served location).  To this point, in those 
unique situations, it would be valuable for the City to have that option to 
negotiate with a developer.

In terms of how to set the payment rate, RKG recommends the 
construction cost valuation approach for payment in lieu. A payment in 
lieu of delivering a whole unit is a different situation than a partial unit.  
Partial unit calculations are more challenging financially for developers 
given how uneven a round up strategy impacts projects.  This is why RKG 
recommends using the value gap approach for partial unit payments.  In 
contrast, a new unit elsewhere will require the full cost to build.



P O L I C Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S

Housing Voucher Considerations- Blending IZ with 
housing units 
Portsmouth’s Housing Authority (PHA) already institutes a dedicated 
set aside for housing vouchers benefits both the community (creates 
more diverse, lower-cost housing) and the development community 
(voucher payments often match or exceed target AMI rent 
thresholds). Expanding upon the existing voucher program by 
strategically allocating vouchers for new developments can be an 
efficient way for serving much lower income households while 
having no, or even a positive, effect on financial feasibility impacts. 
For example, a housing voucher can serve a household earning 30% 
of AMI but pay a landlord the full Fair Market Rent (FMR), reflecting 
a revenue stream at or above 100% of AMI.  

Recommendation: Implementing a voucher component to an IZ 
policy creates benefits to both the community (serving the most 
vulnerable residents) and the developer (higher revenue levels), 
however these programs can be more challenging to implement.  At 
a base level, the City will need a clear coordination effort with the 
PHA to make sure vouchers are available for a project in a timely 
manner.  Further, the City will need to have a process in place to 
qualify tenants and manage the annual certifications.  To this point, 
RKG recommends the City consider a voucher strategy as the update 
the IZ policy rather than as part of an initial program unless the PHA 
coordination and management processes are finalized.

P
O

L
I

C
Y

 C
O

N
S

I
D

E
R

A
T

I
O

N
S

40

Time Impacts and IZ Policy
The results of this analysis vary greatly from the housing market study 
performed in 2021. Development costs, operational expectations, interest 
rates, market pricing all change frequently.  For instance, the Median 
Income for a family of four in Portsmouth region increased approximately 
28% since 2021, going from $106,600 in 2021 to $136,000 in 2023. Thus, 
a household (of 4 persons) in earning 80% of AMI could afford a monthly 
rent (and utilities) payment of $2,072 in 2021.  In 2023, the monthly rent 
payment would be $2,660.  This change in income thresholds impacts 
maximum rent levels for income-controlled units, which impacts financial 
feasibility and value gap calculations. 

Recommendation: To this point, the City needs to update its IZ policy 
requirements and guidelines no more than every two (2) years to ensure 
the policy [1] does not create financial infeasibility over time, [2] promote 
outcomes undesirable to the city (e.g., making payments in lieu 
financially beneficial over delivering units on-site), and [3] ensures the 
goals and objectives of the policy still reflect the City’s priorities and 
shifting opportunities.



P O L I C Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S

Approval Processes – The cost of gaining approvals 
from the City
Based on feedback from local real estate professionals, the 
development approval and permitting process in the City can be long 
and expensive depending on where a project is located, the size, and 
complexity of the project, and if there is any neighborhood 
opposition to the project. Finding ways to reduce those costs 
through these zoning changes, streamlining approval processes, and 
more proactive neighborhood planning that sets expectations for 
residents about future development can have a substantial impact 
on development costs, and therefore financial feasibility.

Recommendation: Cities throughout the U.S. are seeking ways to 
improve their permitting and approval processes.  Portsmouth is no 
different, constantly seeking ways to make their processes more 
efficient and effective.  When it comes to inclusionary zoning, 
implementing policies that can accelerate approvals for projects 
that meet the IZ thresholds (e.g., concurrent reviews, expedited 
review processes) to reduce the time it takes for projects to move 
through the development process. 

P
O

L
I

C
Y

 C
O

N
S

I
D

E
R

A
T

I
O

N
S

41

Density Incentives – Maximizing the City’s leverage with 
the new zoning requirements.
Limited density levels exist on a citywide level, especially areas outside 
of Downtown.  While it is reasonable for varying density levels, 
particularly in traditional subdivisions, there are areas within Portsmouth 
that are appropriate for—and equipped to—support higher densities than 
currently allowed in the City’s zoning ordinance. 

Upzoning and bonus densities are mechanisms for increasing the housing 
supply that can support market price stabilization, reduce financial 
burdens on developers, and maximize the economic use of properties. 
Allowing additional densities is not only used to generate income-
controlled units but provide market rate units to address housing 
shortages among the highest income households.

Recommendation: The City should consider using a density bonus 
program to mitigate the costs incurred by providing income-controlled 
housing units.  There are several examples throughout the U.S. of how 
this can be established.  However, using a bonus density benefit of two 
market rate units in exchange for one set aside unit creates a revenue 
neutral impact on a development.  The upside to density bonus is that it 
can be used in a voluntary IZ policy (and is the most effective approach) 
since it creates equal benefits and costs financially.  On the downside, it 
will require the community to rethink density levels from the current 
zoning allowances.



A
P

P
E

N
D

I
X

42

Market Rate vs. Set Aside Value Difference Calculations



P
O

L
I

C
Y

 I
M

P
L

I
C

A
T

I
O

N
S

43

Market Rate vs. Set Aside Value Difference Calculations



A
P

P
E

N
D

I
X

44

Average Construction Costs Average Construction Costs



����������	
�������������	�������	�������������������� �����! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+,)��-./0.121-�34/5�67,�4��)8�����7��9���:�����'(;���:���! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+<�=�#���>��?" ���&*�" �! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+<�=�#���@��A�"#8�&:B�"#8! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+<�=�#���7���#"#*��&('#"#*! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+<�>�;����6����$����*�'�$���! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+�� 4�C�''" �����D�"%%"���E'F�"%%"�! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+<�7��#��?��A�*������(�B�*����! "#$�%&��#'(�)#*� �(+�GHI��JKLMN�OP�QRNKLSTUVW�XYZY[\]_̂̀a�bc�dbèfgbh̀ij�klmnopq�nrostuorvvvwx_̀abcybèfgbh̀iwxbg��z{|}~����������������������������������������������������������������~����������������� ��¡¢¡£�¤¥¢¦��§|̈~�����������§������������§��������������������������©������������������ª�«����������������«�������������������������©�����������¬����ª���������������������������������������������©����������®��������������������������������������������©�����������̄����°��������������������������������������������©�����������±�������²������������������������������������������������©�����������ª����§��������������������������������������������©�����������̄������������������������������������������������©§���������������������������������³́~������������������������������������������������©��������������������������������������������©�®�����µ��������������������������������������¶·̧�́�~��������������¹���������������º�����)B("##������,)�»�2-./0.121-�¼�23421�)B("##���B$4�6���$(�)'�)B("##���½�:)�'����4¾¿LÀÁ�ÂKÃMÄhÅ_ÆÇKÀÁ�ÂKÃMÈhxÉÊÃK¿ËÌhxÉÍhÅ_ÆÎib̀gÆ_Åwxbg



����������	
�����	�����������������	���	��������� 	!��!"#���$%�&	����	'���	������(	����	��)��*	++	�����(�	,������	-�����	��*	./ 	0���	����	��	�**	�1	2����	)��	����*������� &	����*	��3�	���	�����4��1	��	����*��	'���*��(	'���*	���	,5�&-6	������(	��	����	������� �*����*	7���	)��	�������	++	89	��*	��*��:	,���	���	������	,���'����	����*����	���	��������	������	;���3	)���;	������(	++	����	���	���	���))��	������	�� �	������(	�����	��)�	������(	)���������	++	���	�����1	*��<�	*�����	����*	'�	�	���	���	)��	'���	���������� 	,������	����*	�����	�������1�	����)���1	'��	������	�����(�	=-�,>�	���1	����*	'�	��(��	����	����������6�(������	����	���(�'���	���	��1	�))��	�������1�	��*	'�	��)�	��	���	������� 	�56���,	���������	,�����	=�����	++	������(�	���*��)���	����*	'�	�������*	��	����	����	++	����	���3��(����(���*	��������	�� 	.�����(	����	������	������(	����*	����*�	�����(	������	�������	���	�������*	�����*	����	��	�����4��*	������	������(	++	����	����*��	�������	���	���	��	����������������(	��������1	������(	��*	��	�����	��3�	
�)�1����	,����	��*	=��1	����	++	��*	���(��	�����������	���������������	���������	��	��*	)��	�������	��	���	,���'����	������� 	�������	���������	,5�&-6	�����	���*	'�	���������*	��	�**����	���	���*�	�)	���	�������*	++	���	�����1�����*	����	����	?-6@.-6=5	������( ��*	����	��	*�	�'���	���3)���	������(:	>�3�	���	�)	���	������	,5�&-6	�-A,&�B	������������	��*	��3�	��	���3)���	������( 	.�����1�	�����	��1	'�	����	��(��*��	���*�*	++	�������������	�����*	����	++	�����	)���	���	)���	���3���	����	���	/1�����	����	�����)��*<��	�� ���	��	���(�	����� 	/A>	����	����*	�������	��	����	1��	����*	'�	������(	�))��*�'��	������(	��������	���	���3	��	����������	++	&	����*	��1	����	�����*	'�	���	�������	++	�)	�����	���������	������ 	>����	���3���	����*	����	'����	����	�)	����������<� 	)�'��	++	�����'�1���3��(	��	���3	������*	�)	*�����(	++	����������(	���3��(	����	)��	�����	���3��� 	>���	����*������	��1	�����1����	����������	�����1����	�� 	���*	'�	����	���3�	�**	��'���1	��	������(�'�����*��	��*	����)���1	������ >���	����*	����	�����	)��	������	���	����	���*����	��	���*	����	��	����������	������	++	���	�)���	������ 	��	1��	3����	�.,	��	����(����	��*	�����(	�	'���	�)	���3)���	������(	��	����*������	����*	)������	�����	����	����� 	�����(	���3)���	�����1���	���	�����*	����	++	����������(����	C��(�����	�� 	����*	����1	�����	�����	����	���3	��	����	��	����(����	����	����������1 	�(����	���3��(	��	����������	++	����	�	���������	8	�����	��3	++	����*	'���D����* >���3	1��	)��	1���	����	���*��(	���� 	&	����*	����	��	����	1���	����(��� EF�$��	GH�GI$J�	GK	LMN	OMNF�	FGP�	LMN�	IMQQ�HJ	JM	R�	S$�J	MK	JT�	SNRFGI	��IM��	KM�	JT�NSIMQGH%	UGJL	UMNHIGF	Q��JGH%VW��	


	2024_04_18 Housing Committee Agenda_Final
	AGENDA
	City of Portsmouth
	Housing Blue Ribbon Committee
	Conference Room A at City Hall*

	2024-04-11 Meeting Minutes Housing Blue Ribbon Committee_DRAFT
	Meeting Minutes _ DRAFT
	City of Portsmouth
	Housing Blue Ribbon Committee
	Conference Room A at City Hall*

	2024_04_18 Housing Committee Attachments Cover_Draft
	ATTACHMENTS
	City of Portsmouth
	Housing Blue Ribbon Committee

	Portsmouth, NH Final Report
	City of PORTSMOUTH, NH�Inclusionary Zoning Feasibility Analysis�����
	Table of Contents
	Introduction
	Background
	Financial Feasibility Model 
	City Subareas�
	Modeling inputs
	Methodology
	Methodology
	Construction Costs
	Construction costs
	Operating costs
	Operating costs
	Operational Revenues
	Ownership sale prices INPUTS
	INSIGHTS & Implications
	INSIGHTS & Implications
	Financial sensitivity analysis
	Financial sensitivity analysis
	Slide Number 20
	Rental development Returns
	Rental development returns
	Slide Number 23
	Financial Equivalencies 
	Financial Equivalencies 
	INSIGHTS & Implications
	INSIGHTS & Implications
	Project scenario analysis
	Project Scenario Analysis�
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	INSIGHTS & Implications
	policy considerations
	POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
	POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
	Policy CONSIDERATIONS 
	Policy CONSIDERATIONS
	Policy CONSIDERATIONS
	Policy CONSIDERATIONS
	Policy CONSIDERATIONS
	Slide Number 42
	Slide Number 43
	Slide Number 44

	Website Contact Form_2024-04-16

